

Safety and Efficacy of Remdesivir for the Treatment of Covid-19: A Rapid Review of Available Evidence

Zahra Gharibnaseri¹, Alireza Olyaeemanesh^{1*}

¹National Institute of Health Research, Payment and Financial Resources of the Health System Department, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

*Corresponding Author: National Institute of Health Research, Payment and Financial Resources of the Health System Department, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran. Tel: +98-9124117610, Email: arolyae@gmail.com

Received 2020 April 10; Accepted 2020 June 5.

Abstract

Context: Remdesivir is an antiviral drug manufactured by Gilead Sciences, Inc., in which in-vitro studies have been shown to work in COVID-19 patients. Although it's not approved by pharmaceutical authorities and has not passed the first and second phases of clinical trials, it is prescribed on a trial basis for patients with Covid-19. In more than 20 countries, researchers are monitoring the results of using Remdesivir in clinical settings to see if it can be prescribed for larger populations if patients respond positively.

Methods: This is a rapid review of the evidence for the potential effects of Remdesivir, which intended to create a policy guide. To do so, health technology assessment studies indexed in MEDLINE and Cochrane Library databases were searched using the keywords, including drug name and disease name, on April 21, 2020. In addition, references of retrieved studies were checked to ensure throughout the capture of the literature. Studies on the safety and efficacy of Remdesivir in Covid-19 patients, both in Persian or English, were included. To identify ongoing clinical trials in Iran and some countries, clinical trial registration systems were also searched.

Results: In total 90 titles were identified, which after removing duplicates and applying inclusion criteria, 32 were included, all of which were published in 2020. 25 of them were review studies, mostly on treating Covid-19 disease, and some of them were dedicated to the effects of Remdesivir in treating the disease. However, no systematic review was found. Of the remaining studies, three were finished clinical trials, two of which evaluated the safety and efficacy of Remdesivir on mild, moderate, and severe Covid-19 compared to a placebo, and the third study compared Remdesivir with routine treatment. A cohort study on the efficacy of Remdesivir in compassionate use was also found. Also, two case reports of patients receiving Remdesivir and a letter-to-editor describing Remdesivir as an appropriate treatment for Covid-19 were identified.

Moreover, registered clinical trials with different designs intended to investigate the safety and efficacy of Remdesivir in treating Covid-19 were extracted from clinical trial registration systems (Table 3). In total 15 protocols were found, which 13 were in primary stages. The other two were in phase three of clinical trials and aimed to investigate the effect of Remdesivir in treating patients with severe, moderate, or mild Covid-19. In the clinical trial registration system, it is mentioned that the first study is stopped prematurely due to the lack of a sufficient number of patients, and the second study is also suspended.

Conclusions: Evidence on the safety and efficacy of Remdesivir in treating Covid-19 are very limited to make a decision. However, if registered trials are completed, enough evidence would be available to decide whether to accept or reject the Remdesivir. Since the effectiveness of Remdesivir is not clear yet, its prescription for Covid-19 patients has so far been limited to clinical trials, compassionate use, or emergency use.

Keywords: Covid-19; Corona Virus; Remdesivir

1. Context

Remdesivir is an antiviral drug invented by Gilead Pharmaceutical Company nearly a decade ago with the drug code GS-5734. The company explored a compound with multiple potential antiviral uses to be used when new viruses have emerged around the world. Remdesivir is one of the medical compounds that its antiviral effects are evaluated in the laboratory and on animal samples during the Ebola virus outbreak in West Africa in 2014 (1), and the results showed that it works. Therefore, Remdesivir was produced at a higher scale for evaluating its safety and efficacy in humans (2).

It is a nucleotide analog that enters the genetic structure of the virus during the replication of RNA viruses, such as coronaviruses, and inhibits further replications (3).

In 2017, the antiviral effects of GS-5734 on SARS and MERS

viruses were evaluated in vitro, and positive results were obtained, which increased hope for the efficacy of Remdesivir in patients infected with these viruses as well as other coronaviruses (4). Animal studies also confirmed the efficacy of Remdesivir on the causative agent of MERS (5). The safety and efficacy of this drug in humans infected with causative agents of SARS and MERS have not been evaluated in any clinical trial (6).

In a clinical trial on patients with Ebola (known as PALM study) conducted in 2018, anti-viral effects of Remdesivir are compared to other drug compounds, including monoclonal antibodies. In this trial, the highest mortality rate was observed in the Remdesivir group (even higher than the control group), and therefore, it dropped out prematurely (7).

By the emergence of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, efforts to evaluate the efficacy of Remdesivir increased. Some studies, such as Wang et al., reported a significant effect on the control of viral infections in cultured cells in an in vivo study (8). In January 2020, in the absence of an approved drug to be used for Covid-19 patients, Remdesivir was prescribed for patients as compassionate use without any approval. In evaluating the outcomes of the Remdesivir, of 53 patients, 36 (68%) were recovered. Although the results are promising, due to limitations such as lack of a control group, short follow-up period, and small sample size, it is not possible to draw general conclusions about the safety and efficacy of this drug, and further randomized clinical trials are needed (9).

Accordingly, since February 2020, clinical trials have begun on the efficacy of Remdesivir in patients with mild, moderate, and severe Covid-19. The World Health Organization (WHO) has launched a large-scale trial of Solidarity in several countries at the same time, which assesses four drugs, including Remdesivir, Lopinavir/Ritonavir, Interferon beta-1a, and Hydroxychloroquine/Chloroquine, in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection (10). In the present

study, clinical trials on the effect of Remdesivir in treating Covid-19 patients were reviewed.

This is a rapid review of the evidence for the potential effects of Remdesivir, which intended to create a policy guide. To do so, health technology assessment studies indexed in medical databases were searched.

2. Methods

Studies indexed in MEDLINE and Cochrane Library databases were searched using the keywords, including drug name and its derivatives, including GS-5734, as well as disease name. The titles and abstracts of the articles were reviewed, and the studies were selected based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. In addition, references of retrieved studies were checked to ensure the capture of the literature. Inclusion criteria were as follow: investigating the safety and efficacy of Remdesivir in Covid-19 patients, either in Persian or English, regardless of the study design. The search was carried out on April 21, 2020.

Moreover, to identify ongoing clinical trials in Iran and some countries, clinical trial registration systems were also searched (Table 1).

Table 1. Clinical Trial Registration System

Clinical Trial Registration Systems	Website Address
Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry	https://www.anzctr.org.au/
Brazilian Clinical Trials Registry	http://www.ensaiosclinicos.gov.br/
Chinese Clinical Trial Registry	http://www.chictr.org.cn/index.aspx
Clinical Research Information Service, Republic of Korea	http://cris.nih.go.kr/cris/en/use_guide/cris_introduce.jsp
Clinical Trials Registry - India	http://ctri.nic.in/Clinicaltrials/login.php
Cuban Public Registry of Clinical Trials	http://registroclinico.sld.cu/en/home
EU Clinical Trials Register	https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/
German Clinical Trials Register	https://www.drks.de/drks_web/
Iranian Registry of Clinical Trials	https://www.irct.ir/
ISRCTN Registry, A Primary Clinical Trial Registry Recognized by WHO and ICMJE	http://www.isrctn.com/
Japan Primary Registries Network	https://rctportal.niph.go.jp/en/
Lebanese Clinical Trials Registry	http://lbctr.emro.who.int/
Thai Clinical Trials Registry	http://www.clinicaltrials.in.th/
The Netherlands National Trial Register	https://www.trialregister.nl/
Pan African Clinical Trial Registry	https://pactr.samrc.ac.za/Search.aspx
Peruvian Clinical Trial Registry	https://ensayosclinicos-repec.ins.gob.pe/en/
ClinicalTrials.gov	https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/
UMIN Clinical Trials Registry	https://www.umin.ac.jp/ctr/index/htm/

3. Results

In total 90 titles were retrieved, which after removing duplicates and applying inclusion criteria, 32 were included, all of which were published in 2020. A cohort that declared positive response of Remdesivir efficacy in compassionate use was found. However, the authors declared that due to the limitations related to the study design, the results may not be reliable, and to obtain

valid results, randomized clinical trials with sufficient confidence should be performed. Also, two studies that investigated the effects of Remdesivir on COVID-19 patients were found. A letter-to-editor that has mentioned Remdesivir as an appropriate treatment for Covid-19 was also identified.

Most of the retrieved studies had a review design (25

studies), that mainly reported the course of Covid-19 treatment and mentioned to effects of Remdesivir in the

treatment of this disease. None of the retrieved studies had a systematic review design (Table 2).

Table 2. List of Enrolled Studies

No.	Title	Type of study	Reference
1	A phase 3 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled multicenter study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of Remdesivir in hospitalized adult patients with mild and moderate 2019-nCoV respiratory disease	Randomized clinical trial controlled with placebo	(11)
2	A phase 3 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of Remdesivir in hospitalized adult patients with severe 2019-nCoV respiratory disease	Randomized clinical trial controlled with placebo	(12)
3	A phase 3 randomized study to evaluate the safety and antiviral activity of Remdesivir (GS-5734™) in participants with moderate COVID-19 compared to standard of care treatment	Randomized clinical trial controlled with routine treatment	(13)
4	Delayed initiation of Remdesivir in a COVID-19 positive patient	Case report	(14)
5	The first case of 2019 novel coronavirus in the United States	Case report	(15)
6	Compassionate use of Remdesivir for patients with severe Covid-19	Cohort	(9)
7	Remdesivir as a possible therapeutic option for the COVID-19	Letter to editor	(16)
8	Arguments in favor of Remdesivir for treating SARS-CoV-2 infections	Review	(17)
9	Current knowledge about the antivirals Remdesivir (GS-5734) and GS-441524 as therapeutic options for coronaviruses	Review	(18)
10	Remdesivir for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 causing COVID-19: An evaluation of the evidence	Review	(19)
11	COVID-19: An update on the epidemiological, clinical, preventive and therapeutic evidence and guidelines of Integrative Chinese-Western Medicine for the Management of 2019 novel coronavirus disease	Review	(20)
12	SARS-CoV-2: Recent reports on antiviral therapies based on Lopinavir/Ritonavir, Darunavir/Umifenovir, Hydroxychloroquine, Remdesivir, Favipiravir and other drugs for the treatment of the new coronavirus	Review	(21)
13	Cardiovascular considerations in treating patients with coronavirus (COVID-19)	Review	(22)
14	Cardiovascular considerations for patients, health care workers, and health systems during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic	Review	(23)
15	Discovering drugs to treat coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)	Review	(24)
16	Pharmacological therapeutics targeting RNA-dependent RNA polymerase, proteinase, and spike protein: From mechanistic studies to clinical trials for COVID-19	Review	(25)
17	Treatment options for COVID-19: The reality and challenges	Review	(26)
18	A comprehensive literature review on the clinical presentation, and management of the pandemic coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)	Review	(27)
19	Potential therapeutic agents against COVID-19: What we know so far	Review	(28)
20	Drug treatment options for the 2019-new coronavirus (2019-nCoV)	Review	(29)
21	Compounds with therapeutic potential against novel respiratory 2019 coronavirus	Review	(30)
22	Coronavirus disease 2019 treatment: a review of early and emerging options	Review	(31)
23	Rheumatologists' perspective on coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) and potential therapeutic targets	Review	(32)
24	Clinical trials on drug repositioning for COVID-19 treatment	Review	(33)
25	COVID-2019: update on epidemiology, disease spread, and management	Review	(34)
26	Pharmacologic treatments for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): A review	Review	(35)
27	Antiviral treatment of COVID-19	Review	(36)
28	COVID-19: A brief overview of the discovery clinical trial	Review	(6)
29	Analysis of therapeutic targets for SARS-CoV-2 and discovery of potential drugs by computational methods	Review	(37)
30	Insight into 2019 novel coronavirus - an updated interim review and lessons from SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV	Review	(38)
31	The epidemiology, diagnosis, and treatment of COVID-19	Review	(39)
32	Controversial treatments: An updated understanding of the coronavirus disease in 2019	Review	(40)

3.1. Randomized Clinical Trials

Registered clinical trials with different designs intended to investigate the safety and efficacy of Remdesivir in the treatment of Covid-19 were extracted from clinical trial registration systems (Table 3). In total, 15 protocols were found, which 13 were in primary stages. The other two were in phase three of clinical trials and aimed to

investigate the effect of Remdesivir in treating patients with severe, moderate, or mild Covid-19. In the clinical trial registration system, it is mentioned that the first study is stopped prematurely due to the lack of a sufficient number of patients, and the second study is also suspended.

Table 3. List of Clinical Trials

No.	Title	Study Design	Comparison Groups	Country	Status
1	A phase 3 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of Remdesivir in hospitalized adult patients with severe COVID-19	Phase III	Remdesivir Placebo	China	Terminated
2	A phase 3 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled multicenter study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of Remdesivir in hospitalized adult patients with mild and moderate COVID-19.	Phase III	Remdesivir Placebo	China	Suspended
3	Multicenter, retrospective study of the effects of Remdesivir in the treatment of severe Covid-19 infections	Retrospective Cohort	Remdesivir	France	Not yet recruiting
4	An international randomized trial of additional treatments for COVID-19 in hospitalized patients who are all receiving the local standard of care (solidarity trial)	Phase II & Phase III	Chloroquine or hydroxychloroquine Local standard of care Lopinavir with Ritonavir (ditto) plus Interferon Lopinavir with Ritonavir (orally twice daily for 14 days) Remdesivir	Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Germany, India, Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Norway, Peru, Qatar, South Africa, Spain, Switzerland, Thailand	Open to Recruitment
5	Expanded access treatment protocol: Remdesivir (RDV; GS-5734) for the treatment of SARS-CoV2 (CoV) infection- COVID-19	Phase IV	Remdesivir	France, Germany, Italy, Spain, Switzerland, United Kingdom	Ongoing (Available)
6	A phase 3 randomized study to evaluate the safety and antiviral activity of Remdesivir (GS-5734™) in participants with severe COVID-19	Phase III	Remdesivir Standard of Care	China, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Italy, Japan, Korea, Republic of Netherlands, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan, United Kingdom, United States	Ongoing (Recruiting)
7	A phase 3 randomized study to evaluate the safety and antiviral activity of Remdesivir (GS-5734™) in participants with moderate COVID-19 compared to standard of care treatment	Randomized Open-label Phase III	Remdesivir Standard of Care	China, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Italy, Japan, Korea, Republic of Netherlands, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan, United Kingdom, United States	Ongoing (Recruiting)

8	A phase 3 randomized study to evaluate the safety and antiviral activity of Remdesivir (GS-5734™) in participants with severe COVID-19	Randomized Open-label Phase III	Remdesivir Standard of care	China, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Italy, Japan, Korea, Republic of Netherlands, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan, United Kingdom, United States	Ongoing (Recruiting)
9	Adverse events related to treatments used against coronavirus disease 2019	Observational (Cross-sectional case-only)	Any drug used to treat Covid-19	France	Recruiting
10	Effect of treatments in patients hospitalized for severe COVID-19 pneumonia: a multicenter cohort study	Observational (Retrospective case-only)	Any drug used to treat Covid-19	France	Recruiting
11	A multicenter, adaptive, randomized blinded controlled trial of the safety and efficacy of investigational therapeutics for the treatment of COVID-19 in hospitalised adults	Phase III	Remdesivir Placebo	Denmark, Germany, Greece, Italy, Portugal, Spain, United Kingdom, Japan, Korea, Republic of Mexico, Singapore	Ongoing (recruiting)
12	Multi-centre, adaptive, randomized trial of the safety and efficacy of treatments of COVID-19 in hospitalized adults (DisCoVeRy Trial)	Phase III	Remdesivir Lopinavir/ritonavir Interferon Beta-1A Hydroxychloroquine Standard of care	France	Ongoing (Recruiting)
13	A single-arm multicenter clinical trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of Remdesivir in COVID-19 patients with progressive severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)		Standard Treatment Remdesivir	IR Iran	Recruiting
14	A multicenter, adaptive, randomized blinded controlled trial of the safety and efficacy of investigational therapeutics for the treatment of COVID-19 in hospitalized adults	Phase III	Remdesivir Placebo	USA, KOREA, Japan	Recruiting
15	The Fleming [FMTVDM] directed COVID-19 treatment protocol	Phase II & Phase III	Hydroxychloroquine, Azithromycin Hydroxychloroquine, Doxycycline Hydroxychloroquine, Clindamycin Hydroxychloroquine, Clindamycin, Primaquine-low dose, Hydroxychloroquine, Clindamycin, Primaquine-high dose Remdesivir Tocilizumab Methylprednisolone Interferon-Alpha2B Losartan Convalescent Serum	United States	Enrolling by invitation

On April 24, 2020, the results of the first trial on using Remdesivir to treat Covid-19 were posted on the World Health Organization's website, stating that Remdesivir had no effect on infected patients who were hospitalized

due to the severe form of Covid-19. However, the report was removed shortly afterwards and a spokesman for the organization announced that the publication was wrong and premature (41).

Again, on April 29, 2020, the results of the above-mentioned trial were published in the Lancet after confirming the results through peer review. In that study, as the first controlled randomized clinical trial with placebo, 237 patients were divided into the control and Remdesivir groups (with a 1:2 ratio). The results obtained on the 28th day of the trial showed that; although the rate of recovery in the Remdesivir group was numerically better than the placebo group (65% vs. 58%), this 7% difference was not statistically significant [CI = -5.7 to 20.7]. Hence, further studies with larger sample sizes are needed to confirm the significance of this difference. On the other hand, samples isolated from the upper respiratory tract revealed that the drug couldn't decrease the viral load.

In a study of Remdesivir safety by Wang et al., the results showed that 66% of the drug-receiving group developed side effects, while in the control group, 64% of patients experienced such outcomes. In addition, 12% of patients in the Remdesivir group discontinued the treatment due to developing serious side effects, while in the control group, 5% of patients were dropped out.

Although the results of the study are published, the lack of definitive treatment for Covid-19 forced the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to release a letter on May 1, 2020, giving Gilead the right to distribute Remdesivir under an emergency use authorization (EUA). Under this license, Remdesivir is allowed to be prescribed only for hospitalized patients with severe Covid-19, including those with $SpO_2 \leq 94\%$ and requiring supplemental oxygen or mechanical respiratory support, under the supervision of health care professionals and by observing strict EUA conditions.

One of the most important issues noted in this letter is stating the following issues in all descriptive printed materials, including advertising materials related to the use of Remdesivir:

- A) Remdesivir has not received FDA approval;
- B) The FDA has authorized the use of Remdesivir under the EUA;
- C) Remdesivir can only be prescribed as long as the emergency persists.

4. Conclusions

Based on the findings, evidence on the safety and efficacy of Remdesivir on patients with Covid-19 patients is not sufficient. However, if currently implementing clinical trials be completed, enough evidence would be available to decide whether to accept or reject the Remdesivir prescription. Since the effectiveness of Remdesivir is not clear yet, its prescription for Covid-19 patients has so far been limited to clinical trials, compassionate use, or emergency use.

References

1. Gilead Sciences. Development of remdesivir. 2020 Available from: https://www.gilead.com/-/media/gilead-corporate/files/pdfs/covid-19/gilead_rdv-development-fact-sheet-2020.pdf.

2. Warren TK, Jordan R, Lo MK, Ray AS, Mackman RL, Soloveva V, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of the small molecule GS-5734 against Ebola virus in rhesus monkeys. *Nature*. 2016;**531**(7594):381-5. doi:10.1038/nature17180. [PubMed:26934220]. [PubMed Central:PMC5551389].
3. Gordon CJ, Tchesnokov EP, Feng JY, Porter DP, Gotte M. The antiviral compound remdesivir potently inhibits RNA-dependent RNA polymerase from Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus. *J Biol Chem*. 2020;**295**(15):4773-9. doi:10.1074/jbc.AC120.013056. [PubMed:32094225]. [PubMed Central:PMC57152756].
4. Sheahan TP, Sims AC, Graham RL, Menachery VD, Gralinski LE, Case JB, et al. Broad-spectrum antiviral GS-5734 inhibits both epidemic and zoonotic coronaviruses. *Sci Transl Med*. 2017;**9**(396). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aal3653. [PubMed:28659436]. [PubMed Central:PMC5567817].
5. Sheahan TP, Sims AC, Leist SR, Schafer A, Won J, Brown AJ, et al. Comparative therapeutic efficacy of remdesivir and combination lopinavir, ritonavir, and interferon beta against MERS-CoV. *Nat Commun*. 2020;**11**(1):222. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-13940-6. [PubMed:31924756]. [PubMed Central:PMC6954302].
6. Vanden Eynde J. COVID-19: A Brief Overview of the Discovery Clinical Trial. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)*. 2020;**13**(4). doi:10.3390/ph13040065. [PubMed:32290348]. [PubMed Central:PMC7243102].
7. Mulangu S, Dodd LE, Davey RT, Jr., Tshiani Mbaya O, Proschan M, Mukadi D, et al. A Randomized, Controlled Trial of Ebola Virus Disease Therapeutics. *N Engl J Med*. 2019;**381**(24):2293-303. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1910993. [PubMed:31774950].
8. Wang M, Cao R, Zhang L, Yang X, Liu J, Xu M, et al. Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. *Cell Res*. 2020;**30**(3):269-71. doi:10.1038/s41422-020-0282-0. [PubMed:32020029]. [PubMed Central:PMC7054408].
9. Grein J, Ohmagari N, Shin D, Diaz G, Asperges E, Castagna A, et al. Compassionate Use of Remdesivir for Patients with Severe Covid-19. *N Engl J Med*. 2020;**382**(24):2327-36. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2007016. [PubMed:32275812]. [PubMed Central:PMC7169476].
10. World Health Organization. "Solidarity" clinical trial for COVID-19 treatments 2020; Available from: <https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/global-research-on-novel-coronavirus-ncov/solidarity-clinical-trial-for-covid-19-treatments>.
11. NCT04252664. Mild/Moderate 2019-nCoV Remdesivir RCT. 2020; Available from: <https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT04252664>.
12. NCT04257656. Severe 2019-nCoV Remdesivir RCT. 2020; Available from: <https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT04257656>.
13. NCT04292730. Study to Evaluate the Safety and Antiviral Activity of Remdesivir (GS-5734™) in Participants With Moderate Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Compared to Standard of Care Treatment. 2020; Available from: <https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT04292730>.
14. Hillaker E, Belfer JJ, Bondici A, Murad H, Dumkow LE. Delayed Initiation of Remdesivir in a COVID-19-Positive Patient. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2020;**40**(6):592-8. doi:10.1002/phar.2403. [PubMed:32281114]. [PubMed Central:PMC7262085].
15. Holshue ML, DeBolt C, Lindquist S, Lofy KH, Wiesman J, Bruce H, et al. First Case of 2019 Novel Coronavirus in the United States. *N Engl J Med*. 2020;**382**(10):929-36. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2001191. [PubMed:32004427]. [PubMed Central:PMC7092802].
16. Al-Tawfiq JA, Al-Homoud AH, Memish ZA. Remdesivir as a possible therapeutic option for the COVID-19. *Travel Med Infect Dis*. 2020;**34**:101615. doi:10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101615. [PubMed:32145386]. [PubMed Central:PMC7129391].
17. Ko WC, Rolain JM, Lee NY, Chen PL, Huang CT, Lee PI, et al. Arguments in favour of remdesivir for treating SARS-CoV-2 infections. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. 2020;**55**(4):105933. doi:10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105933. [PubMed:32147516]. [PubMed Central:PMC7135364].
18. Amirian ES, Levy JK. Current knowledge about the antivirals remdesivir (GS-5734) and GS-441524 as therapeutic options for coronaviruses. *One Health*. 2020;**9**:100128. doi:10.1016/j.onehlt.2020.100128. [PubMed:32258351]. [PubMed Central:PMC7186444].
19. Cao YC, Deng QX, Dai SX. Remdesivir for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 causing COVID-19: An evaluation of the evidence. *Travel Med Infect Dis*. 2020;**35**:101647.

- doi:10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101647. [PubMed:32247927]. [PubMed Central:PMC7151266].
20. Chan KW, Wong VI, Tang SCW. COVID-19: An Update on the Epidemiological, Clinical, Preventive and Therapeutic Evidence and Guidelines of Integrative Chinese-Western Medicine for the Management of 2019 Novel Coronavirus Disease. *Am J Chin Med.* 2020;**48**(3):737-62. doi:10.1142/S0192415X20500378. [PubMed:32164424].
 21. Costanzo M, De Giglio MAR, Roviello GN. SARS-CoV-2: Recent Reports on Antiviral Therapies Based on Lopinavir/Ritonavir, Darunavir/Umifenovir, Hydroxychloroquine, Remdesivir, Favipiravir and other Drugs for the Treatment of the New Coronavirus. *Curr Med Chem.* 2020;**27**(27):4536-41. doi:10.2174/0929867327666200416131117. [PubMed:32297571].
 22. Dixon DL, Van Tassel BW, Vecchie A, Bonaventura A, Talasaz AH, Kakavand H, et al. Cardiovascular Considerations in Treating Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* 2020;**75**(5):359-67. doi:10.1097/FJC.0000000000000836. [PubMed:32282502]. [PubMed Central:PMC7219860].
 23. Driggin E, Madhavan MV, Bikdeli B, Chuich T, Laracy J, Biondi-Zoccai G, et al. Cardiovascular Considerations for Patients, Health Care Workers, and Health Systems During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2020;**75**(18):2352-71. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2020.03.031. [PubMed:32201335]. [PubMed Central:PMC7198856].
 24. Dong L, Hu S, Gao J. Discovering drugs to treat coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Drug Discov Ther.* 2020;**14**(1):58-60. doi:10.5582/ddt.2020.01012. [PubMed:32147628].
 25. Huang J, Song W, Huang H, Sun Q. Pharmacological Therapeutics Targeting RNA-Dependent RNA Polymerase, Proteinase and Spike Protein: From Mechanistic Studies to Clinical Trials for COVID-19. *J Clin Med.* 2020;**9**(4). doi:10.3390/jcm9041131. [PubMed:32326602]. [PubMed Central:PMC7231166].
 26. Jean SS, Lee PI, Hsueh PR. Treatment options for COVID-19: The reality and challenges. *J Microbiol Immunol Infect.* 2020;**53**(3):436-43. doi:10.1016/j.jmii.2020.03.034. [PubMed:32307245]. [PubMed Central:PMC7129535].
 27. Kakodkar P, Kaka N, Baig MN. A Comprehensive Literature Review on the Clinical Presentation, and Management of the Pandemic Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Cureus.* 2020;**12**(4):e7560. doi:10.7759/cureus.7560. [PubMed:32269893]. [PubMed Central:PMC7138423].
 28. Lu CC, Chen MY, Lee WS, Chang YL. Potential therapeutic agents against COVID-19: What we know so far. *J Chin Med Assoc.* 2020;**83**(6):534-6. doi:10.1097/JCMA.0000000000000318. [PubMed:32243270]. [PubMed Central:PMC7176266].
 29. Lu H. Drug treatment options for the 2019-new coronavirus (2019-nCoV). *Biosci Trends.* 2020;**14**(1):69-71. doi:10.5582/bst.2020.01020. [PubMed:31996494].
 30. Martinez MA. Compounds with Therapeutic Potential against Novel Respiratory 2019 Coronavirus. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother.* 2020;**64**(5). doi:10.1128/AAC.00399-20. [PubMed:32152082]. [PubMed Central:PMC719632].
 31. McCreary EK, Pogue JM. Coronavirus Disease 2019 Treatment: A Review of Early and Emerging Options. *Open Forum Infect Dis.* 2020;**7**(4):ofaa105. doi:10.1093/ofid/ofaa105. [PubMed:32284951]. [PubMed Central:PMC7144823].
 32. Misra DP, Agarwal V, Gasparyan AY, Zimba O. Rheumatologists' perspective on coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) and potential therapeutic targets. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2020;**39**(7):2055-62. doi:10.1007/s10067-020-05073-9. [PubMed:32277367]. [PubMed Central:PMC7145936].
 33. Rosa SGV, Santos WC. Clinical trials on drug repositioning for COVID-19 treatment. *Rev Panam Salud Publica.* 2020;**44**:e40. doi:10.26633/RPSP.2020.40. [PubMed:32256547]. [PubMed Central:PMC7105280].
 34. Sahu KK, Mishra AK, Lal A. COVID-2019: update on epidemiology, disease spread and management. *Monaldi Arch Chest Dis.* 2020;**90**(1). doi:10.4081/monaldi.2020.1292.
 35. Sanders JM, Monogue ML, Jodlowski TZ, Cutrell JB. Pharmacologic Treatments for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): A Review. *JAMA.* 2020;**323**(18):1824-36. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.6019. [PubMed:32282022].
 36. Simsek Yavuz S, Unal S. Antiviral treatment of COVID-19. *Turk J Med Sci.* 2020;**50**(SI-1):611-9. doi:10.3906/sag-2004-145. [PubMed:32293834]. [PubMed Central:PMC7195979].
 37. Wu C, Liu Y, Yang Y, Zhang P, Zhong W, Wang Y, et al. Analysis of therapeutic targets for SARS-CoV-2 and discovery of potential drugs by computational methods. *Acta Pharm Sin B.* 2020;**10**(5):766-88. doi:10.1016/j.apsb.2020.02.008. [PubMed:32292689]. [PubMed Central:PMC7102550].
 38. Xie M, Chen Q. Insight into 2019 novel coronavirus - An updated interim review and lessons from SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV. *Int J Infect Dis.* 2020;**94**:119-24. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2020.03.071. [PubMed:32247050]. [PubMed Central:PMC7118633].
 39. Zhai P, Ding Y, Wu X, Long J, Zhong Y, Li Y. The epidemiology, diagnosis and treatment of COVID-19. *Int J Antimicrob Agents.* 2020;**55**(5):105955. doi:10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105955. [PubMed:32234468]. [PubMed Central:PMC7138178].
 40. Zhang C, Huang S, Zheng F, Dai Y. Controversial treatments: An updated understanding of the coronavirus disease 2019. *J Med Virol.* 2020. doi:10.1002/jmv.25788. [PubMed:32219882]. [PubMed Central:PMC7228369].
 41. The Guardian. First trial for potential Covid-19 drug shows it has no effect 2020; Available from: <https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/apr/23/high-hopes-drug-for-covid-19-treatment-failed-in-full-trial>.